IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VERNON RAY COOPER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 74,611

JAN 25 1990

No.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RANDY HERIZ
NEW YORK UNIVERSITY
SCHOOL OF LAW
249 SULLIVAN STREET
NEW YORK, NY 10012
(212) 998-6430

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of a sentence of death imposed by the trial court, overriding the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment. The record on appeal consists of seven volumes. References to the record will be designated by the letter "R".

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The proceedings below consisted solely of a capital sentencing hearing.

Appellant had been convicted of first-degree murder and robbery on June 24,

1974, and sentenced to death on July 1, 1974. In <u>Cooper v. Dugger</u>, 526 So.2d

900 (Fla. 1988), this Court vacated appellant's death sentence and remanded the case for a new sentencing hearing before a jury.

The resentencing hearing was held on February 27, 1989 to March 3, 1989, in the Circuit Court in and for Escambia County, Division B, the Honorable Nickolas P. Geeker presiding. At the conclusion of the hearing, the jury recommended, by a vote of six to six, that the court impose a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for 25 years. R. 1080. On July 28, 1989, the trial court imposed a sentence of death, overriding the jury's recommendation and declaring that the override was consistent with the doctrine of Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). See R. 1141-48 (Order Stating Reasons for Imposition of Death Sentence).

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Convictions on Which Appellant Was Sentenced

On June 21, 1974, appellant was convicted after trial of first-degree murder and robbery. R. 298-99. The evidence presented at trial is summarized in this Court's decision in Cooper v. State, 336 So.2d 1133, 1136 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 925, 97 S. Ct. 2200, 53 L. Ed.2d 239 (1977).

B. The Prosecution's Evidence at the Resentencing Hearing

(1) Testimony concerning the robbery and the circumstances leading up to the killing of Deputy Wilkerson

John Glover, who was the assistant manager of a Winn-Dixie Food Store in Escambia County in 1974 (R. 303), testified that appellant and Stephen Ellis robbed the store on January 19, 1974, at approximately 7:00 p.m. Glover stated that appellant came up to him, said that the store was being robbed, and then pulled back his coat, exposing a weapon which was tucked into the waistband of his pants. R. 304. The weapon was a blue steel pistol with a brown handle. R. 308. Glover stated that appellant and Ellis took the money from the safe and cash registers and then, as they exited the store, appellant said "it would be unhealthy if any of [you] . . . c[o]me outside." R. 305-6, 307. Throughout the robbery, appellant never pulled the gun out of the waistband of his pants and never pointed it at Glover or anyone else in the store. R. 314.

Clyde Ward, who was a customer in the Winn-Dixie store at the time of the robbery (R. 318-19), testified that Ellis announced that the store was being robbed (R. 319), pulled a gun out of his pocket (R. 322-23), pointed it at a cashier, and robbed her at gunpoint (R. 323-24). The gun was a chrome-plated pistol, which appeared to be a .22 or .32 caliber pistol (R. 321-22).

Several witnesses who were Escambia County Deputy Sheriffs at the time testified that a report of the robbery was broadcast over the police radio. R. 329 (Donald Douglas Parker); R. 337 (Dale W. Krause); R. 346 (Ed Bates); R.

394-95 (Charles Joye). Parker testified that Deputy Wilkerson thereafter came on the radio and informed his supervisor, Bill Lynch, that he was going to Pine Forest Road to watch for individuals acting suspiciously. R. 328-29.

- (2) Testimony concerning the shooting of Deputy Wilkerson
 - (a) Testimony of William Waters

William Waters, who was driving his pickup truck on Pine Forest Road at approximately 8 p.m. that night (R. 414-15, 424), saw a police car with its blue lights flashing and a black car in front of it, stopped approximately 70 or 100 feet south of the Gulf station on Pine Forest Road (R. 415, 426-27). Waters was driving south (R. 415, 424) and the cars were on the opposite side of the road from him (R. 419). The police car was parked on the north side of a highway sign. R. 423, 427-28, 429. Both cars had their headlights on (R. 415). As Waters drove past, he glanced out his window (R. 419) and observed a man go from the driver's side of the police car to the passenger side of the black car which was parked in front of the police car. R. 415-16, 422. The door of the police car was partially open, and Waters could see the foot or leg of the car's occupant protruding below the door. R. 416. Waters then observed the black car drive away. R. 416, 420-21.

These events happened very quickly (R. 419). Waters stated that he would not have seen anything if he had been there "ten seconds later . . . or ten seconds earlier" (<u>ibid</u>.). When asked about the man who went from one car to the other, Waters was unable to describe his race, height, or weight. R. 419-20. Waters did not see a flash of gunfire or hear any gunfire as he drove past the cars. R. 420. At the time, he did not think that he had seen anything suspicious. R. 416 ("did not think anything of it").

(b) Testimony of police officers regarding the discovery of Deputy Wilkerson's body

Former deputy sheriffs Donald Douglas Parker and Dale W. Krause recalled

receiving a radio transmission stating that gunshots had been reported in the vicinity of Pine Forest Road near the interstate. R. 328 (Parker); R. 337-38 (Krause). Parker and Krause each went to that location to investigate. R. 328, 337.

Krause was the first officer to arrive on the scene. R. 338. When he got there, he found Wilkerson's body lying in a patrol car, shot in the head and apparently dead. R. 337-38. Krause described the body as lying in a frontal position with the feet protruding through the open car door. R. 338. One of the civilians who was on the scene when Krause arrived, a man named Bolling, told Krause that he had observed a black Camaro leave the scene at a high rate of speed, traveling north on Pine Forest Road. R. 338-39. Krause broadcast information regarding the shooting (R. 338) and the description of the car (R. 339).

When Parker arrived on the scene, Krause and several other officers were already there. R. 330. Parker described Wilkerson's body as positioned on the front seat of the car, leaning against the passenger door and facing the driver's door. R. 330. He had been shot twice in the head and was apparently dead. R. 330-31.

Then-Investigator Charles Joye heard a dispatch stating that an officer may have been shot on Pine Forest Road (R. 395). Joye went there and observed that Wilkerson had been shot (R. 395-96).

(c) The testimony of the pathologist who performed the autopsy
Pathologist Thomas Rogers Birdwell testified by videotape (R. 604) about
the autopsy he performed on Charles Wilkerson (R. 606-7). He described three
wounds to the forehead, two of which were bullet entrance wounds, and one of
which was caused by a fragment from the second bullet. R. 608. He stated that
the nature of the wounds suggested that the shots were fired at close range.
R. 615-16. He identified a photograph depicting the wounds. R. 608-9.

- (3) Testimony regarding the attempted apprehension of the suspects and the shootout that ensued
 - (a) Testimony of Deputy Sheriff Ed Bates

After receiving a radio dispatch reporting that an officer had been shot and a subsequent report that the officer had been shot in the head (R. 346-48), Deputy Sheriff Ed Bates received a radio broadcast stating that a description had been given for a black vehicle going north on Pine Forest Road (R. 348). Bates began searching the Interstate, heading west toward Mobile, Alabama (R. 350). He received a radio report from Investigator Joye, who said that he was following a black car containing two white males fitting the description. R. 350.

Bates found the black car, drove alongside it and looked in the window, and then dropped behind it. R. 351. Appellant was in the passenger seat of the black car and Ellis was in the driver's seat. R. 361. Bates put on his patrol car's blue light (R. 351), the car stopped, and Bates pulled his patrol car in behind it (R. 352). At that moment, Ellis exited quickly from the driver's side of the black car, coming at Bates before he could leave the police car. R. 352, 370. In Bates' words, "Ellis . . . jumped out of the car, and he started back . . . [and] he was right on top of me. " R. 352. Bates immediately aimed his shotgun in Ellis' face and ordered Ellis to stand with his hands on the hood of the police car. R. 352, 370. As Joye guarded the other suspect, who was still in the black car (R. 352, 376), Bates began patting down Ellis (R. 353). While still engaged in the frisk, Bates heard a shotgun go off. R. 353, 376-77. Thinking Joye had been shot, Bates stepped back and turned to look in Joye's direction. R. 354, 377. When Bates turned back to Ellis, he discovered that Ellis was no longer facing the police car. Ellis had turned so that he was facing Bates, had pulled out a gun, and was pointing it at Bates. R. 354, 378. Ellis said "you're next or something to

that effect" (R. 354, 379), clearly meaning to kill Bates (R. 379). Bates fired his shotgun at Ellis, killing him. R. 354-55, 380-81. Ellis' gun fell on top of the patrol car. R. 355.

Then Bates heard another gun fire and the windows of his car shattered.

R. 355. Bates responded by firing repeatedly at the black car, in which appellant was still seated. R. 355, 378. At that point, the car moved away, slowly. R. 356-57. Appellant, who was seated in the passenger side of the car (R. 361), had leaned over and pushed the accelerator (R. 357). After the car had gone a short distance, it stopped, and appellant jumped out of the car and ran away. R. 357. Bates learned later that the first shotgun blast, which had caused him to look in Joye's direction, had been caused by appellant's accidentally setting off a shotgun and firing a shot through the floorboard of the black Camaro. R. 387.

(b) Testimony of Investigator Charles Joye

After going to Pine Forest Road and observing Wilkerson's body (R. 395-96), Joye drove west on the Interstate toward Mobile, looking for the perpetrators (R. 396-97). He received a radio report that "a dark-colored car, possibly a Camaro" may have been involved in the robbery and the shooting. R. 397. Joye thereafter observed a dark-colored Camaro and radioed for assistance in stopping the car (R. 397-98).

Officer Bates arrived on the scene and stopped the car (R. 398). Appellant was seated on the passenger side of the car and Ellis in the driver's seat. R. 403. Ellis "immediately got out of the car and came back to where Bates was standing by his car." R. 399. Joye observed that appellant was still in the Camaro. R. 400. A gunshot seemed to come from the Camaro. Ibid. Joye glanced in Bates' direction and saw that Ellis had pulled out a blue-chrome pistol. R. 400, 404. Bates shot Ellis with his shotgun, and Ellis fell to the ground. R. 400. A shot then came from the Camaro (R. 400-1), and Joye

began shooting at the car (R. 401). The car moved away, with the occupant, who was still in the passenger's seat, apparently leaning over to push the accelerator. R. 401. Joye followed the car for a short distance and then the occupant ran away. R. 401-2.

In response to cross-examination, Joye testified that at one point appellant had the opportunity to shoot him but did not make any attempt to do so. R. 406-7. After the Camaro had been stopped and Ellis had left the car, Joye walked to the driver's side of the car, looked into the car through the open door, and observed appellant sitting in the passenger seat. R. 399, 406. Appellant had ample opportunity to shoot Joye as he was standing and looking into the car through the open door. R. 406. But appellant did not fire a gun at him. R. 406. Indeed, as Joye looked at appellant, Joye observed no motion whatsoever. R. 400.

(4) Testimony concerning the arrest of appellant, a statement he made to the police, and the police seizure of two firearms

Don Powell, who was a deputy sheriff at the time, arrived at the scene of the shootout after Ellis had been shot by Bates. R. 432. Powell participated in a search for the suspect which was conducted by several hundred police officers from Florida and Alabama. R. 433-35. Shortly before 2 a.m., Powell found appellant lying in a viaduct drainage ditch. R. 438, 442. Powell recounted that when he ordered appellant to show his hands and stand up, appellant said "Mister, don't shoot, don't shoot me, I did not kill the deputy, the other guy did." R. 438, 443. Appellant did not offer any resistance. R. 442. When appellant was handcuffed, the police found a sawed-off, double-barrel Stevens shotgun, which Powell identified as State's Exhibit No. 1, lying underneath appellant's body, strapped around his right shoulder. R. 438-39.

Two spent shells were found in the gun. R. 439.

Walter Crook, who was a deputy sheriff with the Sheriff's Department of

Baldwin County, Alabama (R. 495-96), testified that he assisted in the arrest of appellant (R. 496). Crook described the discovery of appellant lying in the ditch and the shotgun lying underneath his body. Crook identified State's Exhibit No. 1 as that shotgun (R. 496-97) and identified State's Exhibit No. 2 as a firearm he retrieved from the hood of a police car. R. 497-98, 511.

(5) Ballistics evidence

Donald Champagne, firearms examiner for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement crime laboratory, testified as a ballistics expert. R. 467. He stated that in his opinion, one of the two bullets removed from the body of Deputy Wilkerson could not have been fired from State's Exhibit No. 2, a chrome-plated Smith and Wesson revolver (R. 472-75). The other bullet was so damaged that the caliber could not be determined. R. 471, 474.

(6) Testimony relating to the processing of the crime scene, the recovery of physical evidence, and the taking of photographs

Henry Edward Wolff and Preston J. McGlothern, who were crime scene investigators with the identification division of the Escambia County Sheriff's Department (R. 447, 464), testified regarding their collection of evidence from, and taking of photographs of, the crime scene.

McGlothern described his inventory of the Camaro (R. 520-28) and stated that he found, among other things, two bags with money (R. 521), a bottle of Jim Beam (R. 522), and a transfer of the title of the Camaro from appellant to Vivian J. Cooper (R. 525); he did not find a blue steel pistol in the car (R. 527). McGlothern stated that the passenger side of the floorboard displayed "an apparent shotgun blast." R. 526. In response to defense counsel's questioning, he said that the region in which the events took place had "a number of . . . water crossings, and . . . swampland." R. 546. McGlothern also testified that an examination of Ellis' body showed that he was five feet, eleven inches tall and weighed 180 pounds. R. 559.

Daniel Lodge, who was then a deputy with the crime scene unit (R. 627), testified that he attended the autopsy of Deputy Wilkerson (R. 628) and obtained the bullets which were removed from his body (R. 628), as well as the autopsy photograph previously identified by Dr. Birdwell (R. 629-30). The prosecution moved to introduce the photograph. Defense counsel objected on the ground that the depiction of the wounds on the deceased's face was more prejudicial than probative. R. 629. The court overruled the objection and the photograph was received in evidence. R. 630.

Lodge also testified regarding a diagram of the scene which showed distances between relevant locations. R. 631-32. He stated that the distance between the Gulf station and Deputy Wilkerson's patrol car was 480 feet. R. 632. The car was approximately 50 feet behind a road sign. R. 631.

(7) Testimony regarding the convictions on which appellant was being sentenced

Audrey Dean, the deputy clerk of the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court, testified that the clerk's file shows that appellant was found guilty of first-degree murder and robbery on June 21, 1974. R. 298-99.

(8) Testimony concerning appellant's prior record

Chuck Williams, who was the chief assistant State's Attorney for the First Judicial Circuit in 1974 (R. 487), testified that the official records of the clerk's office show that appellant was convicted of robbery in three cases in 1974. R. 488. On cross-examination, defense counsel elicited that appellant entered a plea of guilty in those cases and received a life sentence in each case to run concurrently with his death sentence (R. 489-90). Williams stated that he does not "have a specific recollection" whether any victims were physically harmed in any of these robberies, but that he does not "recall that anyone was injured." R. 490.

Linda Bibby, a deputy clerk and records custodian for the Circuit Criminal

Department, testified that the official records reflect the convictions and sentences described by Chuck Williams. R. 494-95.

Andrew G. Hildreth, who was a police officer in Pritchard, Alabama in 1966 (R. 569), testified that on January 4, 1966, appellant was convicted of a robbery that took place in the City of Mobile, as well as a robbery that took place in the City of Pritchard (R. 570). Hildreth stated that a .45-caliber revolver was used in these robberies (R. 573). Appellant received a 12-year sentence in each case, the two sentences to run concurrently. On cross-examination, the witness acknowledged that no one was physically harmed in either of the two cases (R. 572), and that the convictions were on a plea of quilty. R. 571-72.

William H. Cobb, a probation and parole officer in Mobile, Alabama (R. 573), was appellant's parole officer from 1970 to 1974 (R. 575). He testified that appellant received two concurrent sentences of 12 years in 1966. R. 574. Appellant was paroled on March 16, 1970 (R. 575) and was still on parole on January 19, 1974 (R. 575).

During the years that appellant was on parole, appellant was always very respectful of and courteous to the parole officer in a way that Cobb has never seen in other parolees. R. 583. Appellant worked at a glass company in Mobile, Alabama. R. 576. He "provided some care to his father." R. 577. During these years, appellant suffered from a drinking problem. R. 582. He was very close friends with Stephen Ellis, who was appellant's supervisor on a job at an apartment complex for a period of time. R. 584-85.

Cobb testified that he filed two parole violations against appellant during the period from March 16, 1970 to January 28, 1974 (R. 577-78), but that appellant did not have his parole revoked (R. 578), in part because Cobb recommended against revocation (R. 579). One of the violations was based on an assault charge that was dismissed (<u>ibid.</u>); the other was a charge of possession

of a carbine rifle at a period of time when it was not against the law in Alabama for a convicted felon to possess a firearm (R. 579, 582).

In response to defense counsel's questions, Cobb testified that the State of Alabama has lodged a detainer against appellant. He explained the concepts of detainers and parole revocation, and the strong possibility of appellant's being sentenced to serve the remaining portion of his sentence in Alabama in the event of revocation. R. 580-81.1

C. The Defense Evidence at the Resentencing Hearing

(1) Pre-Hearing Motion to Admit Polygraph Results

Prior to the resentencing hearing, appellant filed a "Motion to Permit Introduction of Results of Polygraph Examination." R. 1065-66. The motion sought leave to introduce into evidence the results of a polygraph examination of appellant which showed that there was "no deception on his part in stating that he did not fire the shots which killed Mr. Wilkerson." Id. at 1065.

Appellant's counsel explained that "there's been a dispute between the State and the defense all these years as to whether or not Mr. Cooper was the trigger person or Mr. Ellis" (R. 17).

In support of the motion, appellant cited § 921.141(1), Fla. Stat., which authorizes introduction at a sentencing hearing of "'evidence which the court deems to have probative value . . ., regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence.'" R. 1065-66. Appellant's counsel informed the court that appellant was willing to submit to an independent polygraph examination arranged by the prosecution and to consent to the introduction of the results of such an examination (R. 18, 690), or, if the prosecution preferred, an examination under the effects of sodium pentothal (R. 690).

^{1/} In addition to the criminal convictions described in the text of this subsection, appellant himself testified that he was convicted of a federal Dyer Act offense, interstate transportation of a stolen vehicle, at the age of 17. See p. 21 infra.

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