IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VERNON RAY COOPER,

Appellant,

ν.

CASE NO. 74,611

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Cooper admitted that he started drinking when fourteen when he bought moonshine and started drinking regularly in the late '60's. He drank beer because he didn't have much money and everybody started calling him Walking Glass when he started drinking Jim Beam all the time. (TR 860). He admitted to drinking at that point, a pint to a fifth a day, but also admitted to feeling good at that time in 1973, when he first met Ellis. (TR 861). He recalled trying to give money to his family but admitted that it wasn't very much. (TR 862). He and Ellis were good friends that got along well although Ellis was ten years younger and that they would get together and listen to music and talk and drink beer. Cooper testified that he loved Ellis like a brother. (TR 863). Cooper did not know whether Ellis had ever been arrested and at the time of the robbery, Ellis was a fireman. When Ellis found out that Cooper had been to prison and had committed robberies, he became interested in Cooper and wanted to talk about it. (TR 865). Cooper observed that Ellis developed a fascination with Cooper's record and talked with Cooper about the logistics of committing robberies

because Ellis was in debt. (TR 866). He and Ellis started committing robberies although Cooper testified that he never hurt anyone. Just prior to the Winn-Dixie robbery, Cooper testified that he had gotten off his night shift and that he and Ellis drove towards Pensacola that day. (TR 867-869). Although they planned to rob the Winn-Dixie, Cooper testified that he never planned to hurt anyone.

At the time of the murder, Cooper testified that Ellis got out of the car (Cooper's Camaro), and went up to the deputy who Cooper heard shots and at that point Ellis stopped them. returned to the car and said, "I'm sorry, I had to do it." 874). Cooper testified that, if caught, he had planned to give himself up although they were heavily armed. The agreement between Cooper and Ellis was that they were not going to hurt anyone and that they just brought the shotgun along. (TR 875). Cooper testified that Ellis was driving the car because he did not have a driver's license and that after the shooting, Ellis handed him the gun and told him to get rid of it. (TR 876-877). As they drove along the Interstate, Cooper took the bullet out, wiped the gun clean and threw them out the window. (TR 877). Cooper again stated that he did not know Ellis was going to kill the cop. (TR 877). When asked about the later altercation with Officer Bates, Cooper recalled that he thought the officers were shooting at him after Ellis got out of the car. He didn't know what happened and didn't know that Ellis had gotten shot. testified that the shotgun went off in the car, blowing a hole in the floorboard and at that time, gunfire was exchanged. Не

admitted shooting a second round towards the police cruisers, however, he didn't think about killing anyone. (TR 879-881, then attempted to move the car by working the accelerator with his hand and steering the car a few hundred feet down the road from the gunfight. At that point he fell out of the car from the passenger's side and left the .38 Smith and Wesson in the car. (TR 883). He managed to get out of the car and started running up the hill, he stumbled into a briar patch The shotgun was found and was eventually found in a ditch. underneath him. Upon arrest, he asked the officiers not to shoot (TR 886). He testified that he got scratched and bruised as he was being walked back to the police cruiser after having to traverse a fence with his hands handcuffed. He also testified that he got bumped around in jail. (TR 887-888). He waived extradition and returned to Florida on January 20, 1974. 889).

Mr. Cooper testified that he has been on death row for over fifteen years in a little cell with a commode and a sink and a bunk and a locker. He testified that he stays in the cell except for two days a week when he gets to go outside for two hours. He used to talk to friends on death row, however, his best friend has been executed. There is no air conditioning in the building and he gets to take a shower every other day. (TR 890-892). He has received one disciplinary report several years ago for a minor infraction. (TR 893). He also recalled an incident when a guard was killed on death row and although he heard all the commotion, there was nothing he could do about it. He has been

in good health, however, he has developed emphysema and chronic obstruction pulmonary disorder.

He also testified that he has two detainers lodged against him, one from Alabama and one from the federal government. (TR 899). Mr. Cooper testified that he does not want to die in the electric chair, that he is fifty-two years old and the earliest possible consideration for release in 1999. (TR 900).

cross-examination, Cooper admitted that Ellis was involved in robberies with him. (TR 902). He tesified that they agreed nobody would be hurt during the robberies although, prior to the murder that day, they test fired the gun. (TR 905). Although the gun was test fired and fully loaded, Cooper testified he never intended to use it. (TR 906). When asked about the presence of the gun, he testified that he was only going to use it to threaten people by showing them the gun, he was never going to shoot anyone. (TR 908). When Officer Wilkerson approached Cooper and Ellis, the officer was very polite, did not have his pistol drawn and asked if they would wait a minute. (TR 911). Wilkerson walked back to his cruiser and at that point, Ellis (based on Cooper's rendition) got out and went back there. (TR 912). Cooper testified that he knew Ellis had a qun. (TR 916). In recalling the incident with Officer Bates, Cooper testified that he accidentally shot the floorboard of the Camaro and after the incident, he fell out of the passenger's side of the car, not the driver's side of the car. (TR 917).

On re-direct, Cooper testified that he drank about a fifth of Jim Beam a day and that his memory was hazy the early part of the day and didn't remember the specifics about getting to the Winn-Dixie parking lot. He recalled that it could have been asleep. (TR 922). Cooper said that although they did not plan to do any robberies that day, they were fully armed to do them. (TR 923).

The best Cooper can gleam from the following summaries of the testimony presented, was that he had normal family problems and, at some points in his life, he drank daily. The trial court found these two non-statutory mitigating factors to be present but concluded that neither of them were strong nor were either a basis upon which reasonable jurors would conclude that life was an appropriate sentence versus death. The trial court found four statutory aggravating factors, no statutory mitigating factors aforenoted non-statutory mitigating factors and the two applicable in this case. Cooper has emphasized the fact that the jury could have rationally determined that he was not triggerman and as such, the trial court should have followed the jury's recommendation. Just as this Court observed in Cochran v. State, supra, that one particular aggravating factor "does not and cannot automatically nullify a jury's life recommendation," it is also true that a defendant's age or, the fact that he may not be the triggerman, is not an overriding factor in reviewing whether the trial court was correct that no reasonable person could conclude that life was an appropriate sentence. In Thompson v. State, 553 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1989), this Court observed:

We now turn to the trial court's override of jury's recommendation οf An override may be sustained imprisonment. only when there is no reasonable basis upon the jury could have based Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d recommendation. 908 (Fla. 1975). Thompson argues that the evidence demonstrated that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of was substantially impaired. addressing this statutorv mitigating circumstance in the sentencing order the trial court stated . . .

553 So.2d 156.

At this point, the court, in detail, discussed the opinion of Dr. Arthur Stillman as to whether Thompson could conform his conduct to the requirements of law. This Court found that the evidence supported the trial court's reasoning that the statutory mitigating factor did not exist. A similar analysis should be made sub judice. See Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987). Here, the trial court carefully detailed why no rational juror would have found that Cooper was not the triggerman. The court also opined, however, even if Cooper was not the triggerman, his culpability in this crime in the planning and execution of it did not diminish his role nor his eligibility for the death penalty.

In Thompson, the court also observed:

Thompson also argues that the jury may have recommended life imprisonment because the others involved received lesser sentences or were granted immunity in exchange for their testimony. Jury recommendations against the death penalty which may have been based on a desire to provide equality in sentencing were considered in Eutzy v. State, (cite omitted)

As in **Eutzy**, the evidence in this case provides no basis upon which the jury could have recommended life in prisonment in order

to prevent disparity in sentencing. The record reflects that Thompson was in charge and his accomplices were subordinates. Thompson ordered that Savoy be apprehended, and it was Thompson, rather than his accomplices, who inflicted the fatal shot.

The remaining evidence submitted mitigation did not provide a reasoned basis jury recommendation of imprisonment. In the final analysis, this a contract killing conducted in professional manner by an underworld crime With five valid aggravating circumstances, no statutory mitigating circumstances and very little non-statutory mitigating evidence, the trial judge's override was legally sound.

553 So.2d at 158.

Similarly, in the case at bar, there is nothing in this record that would support the jury's recommendation of life. See Torres-Arboledo v. State, 524 So.2d 403, 413 (Fla. 1988), wherein this Court found that although there was evidence with regard to rehabilitation:

It is apparent from the record that Torres-Arboledo's intelligence and potential for rehabilitation were the sole factors upon which the jury could have relied in making its recommendation. We do not believe that these factors, for which the sole support was testimony of an expert witness, are of such weight that reasonable people could conclude that they outweigh the aggravating factors proven. This is particularly so in light of the previous conviction for the California homicide which was committed subsequent to the commission of the offense at hand. Since reasonable people could not differ as to whether death was appropriate in this case, the trial judge was not bound to follow the jury's recommendation of life. We therefore find the override proper in this case.

Interestingly enough, in Torres-Arboledo's case, one fact at issue was whether Torres-Arboledo was the triggerman. (See

recital of the facts, 524 So.2d at 407). In Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985), the court therein found that the defendant's age of fifty-eight was not a mitigating factor. Subjudice, Cooper makes much of the fact that he has long suffered on death row and that he will not get out until 1999, at which time he will be approximately sixty-three years old. The court, in Echols, observed:

We have previously addressed this question of whether age, without more, is considered a mitigating factor in Agan and Peek v. State, (cite omitted), but question continues to be raised. It should be recognized that age is simply a fact, every murderer has one, and it can be considered under the general instruction that jury may consider any aspect of the defendant's character or the statutory mitigating factors, §921.141(6)(g), Fla.Stat. (1981). However, if it is to be accorded any significant weight, it must be linked with some other characteristic of the defendant or the crimes such as immaturity or senility. This case, for example, we see nothing in the record that would warrant finding any truly mitigating significance in the Appellant's age. On the contrary, Appellant's age, along with the other evidence, suggested Appellant is a mature, experienced person of fiftyeight years, of sound mind and body who knew very well what he was undertaking equally, that the undertaking was without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

484 So.2d at 575.

Terminally, with regard to Cooper's non-violent nature, the record is clear, that throughout his life, Cooper had a penchant for committing robberies. Although no one ever got hurt during the course of the robberies, Cooper was armed and used weapons, especially in the Winn-Dixie robbery, in a threatening manner. But for good fortune, Mr. Cooper is never tested as to whether he

would have used his weapons! Moreover, his family ties at best were minimal and what, one would normally expect. Evidence with regard to his incarceration conditions had nothing to do with his rehabilitation but rather, demonstrated he was an unremarkable prisoner on death row for the last fifteen years. Certainly, nothing in Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1 (1986), mandates further consideration of this "fact".

It is submitted that based on the foregoing, that the trial court's override was supported by competent evidence and that his analysis that no reasonable person would find mitigation to support such a life sentence must be affirmed.

POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION OF THE RESULTS OF THE POLYGRAPH EXAMINATION VIOLATED FLORIDA STATUTES, §921.141(1), THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION

Cooper next argues that at resentencing the trial court erred in disallowing his motion to permit the introduction of the results of his polygraph examination. The examination occurred in 1977 and was done by a Mr. Holmes, a polygraph examiner. At resentencing, the defense proffered Warren Holmes' testimony. He observed that on November 17, 1977, he gave a polygraph examination to Cooper in order to ascertain whether Cooper shot Officer Wilkerson. (TR 681). Mr. Holmes, after securing background information, asked eight questions of Cooper germane to the instant inquiry. Seven of which Mr. Holmes stated Cooper answered truthfully. The last, an eighth question, Mr. Holmes

testified that Cooper answered untruthfully. Those questions are Specifically, Mr. Holmes, in his set out at (TR 684-685). proffer, said that Cooper answered truthfully that he did discuss murdering the officer; that Cooper did not get out of the car when the officer was shot; that Ellis did get out of the car when the officer was shot; that he did not shoot the police officer; that Ellis told him to throw the gun away; that he threw the gun out the window; that he left a .38 caliber weapon in the car at the time he fled. (TR 687). Apparently Cooper was not truthful with regard to his answer that he did not intend to shoot at The trial court ruled Officer Bates when he fired the shotgun. indicia not suffer the polygraph evidence does reliability and as such, since the State was not willing to concur, said evidence was to be excluded.

Cooper argues that said evidence was admissible pursuant to §921.141(1), Florida Statutes and that the trial court abused its discretion in rejecting same. Citing to Green v. Georgia, 442 U.S. 95 (1979), Cooper argues that the due process clause bars rigid application of evidentiary rules to exclude testimony that is highly relevant to a critical issue in a case. Appellee has a difficult time finding merit to Cooper's arguments since the life recommendation, albeit 6-6, resulted in а jury's recommendation. Moreover, Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), speaks in terms of the admission of relevant mitigating evidence. In contemplation of determining what is relevant, the United States Supreme Court fully contemplated that evidentiary rules would be utilized in discerning what was relevant and not

relevant with regard to mitigation. Certainly, Green v. Georgia, is not to the contrary.

Moreover, any error that this Court should find is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in that both at trial in 1974 and at resentencing in 1989, Vernon Ray Cooper continually maintained to both the jury and the trial judge that he did not kill Officer Wilkerson. Based on the foregoing, this error, if any, is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

POINT III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AND VIOLATED APPELLANT'S EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS IN ADMITTING A GRUESOME AND INFLAMMATORY PHOTOGRAPH OF THE DECEASED

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